05/22/2019

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 19-0077

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 19-0077

ALEXIS NUNEZ and HOLLY McGOWAN,

Plaintiffs/Appellees,

v.

WATCHTOWER BIBLE AND TRACT SOCIETY OF NEW YORK, INC.; CHRISTIAN CONGREGATION OF JEHOVAH'S WITNESSES and THOMPSON FALLS CONGREGATION OF JEHOVAH'S WITNESSES,

Defendants/Appellants.

WATCHTOWER BIBLE AND TRACT SOCIETY OF NEW YORK, INC.; CHRISTIAN CONGREGATION OF JEHOVAH'S WITNESSES and THOMPSON FALLS CONGREGATION OF JEHOVAH'S WITNESSES,

Third-Party Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

MAXIMO NAVA REYES and IVY McGOWAN-CASTLEBERRY,

Third-Party Defendants/Appellees.

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Did the District Court err in granting summary judgment on Alexis Nunez's negligence per se claim?
- 2. Was there sufficient evidence of "actual malice" to justify the jury's award of punitive damages?
- 3. Did the District Court err in holding the statutory cap on punitive damages unconstitutional under the Montana Constitution?
- 4. Does the punitive damages award against Watchtower Bible and Tract Society of New York, Inc. ("Watchtower"), violate federal constitutional standards?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a \$35 million verdict—\$31 million in punitive damages—for negligence per se against entities associated with Jehovah's Witnesses for allegedly failing to comply with Montana's child abuse reporting statute. Jehovah's Witnesses recognize that Scripture "[o]bligates them to be obedient to the law," including reporting statutes. Trial Tr. Vol. 1, 241:9-16, Sept. 24, 2018. If the law says clergy must report abuse, they report it. Montana's reporting statute requires clergy to report abuse *unless* the information is "confidential." Here, after confidentially learning of years-old

1

abuse, elders of a local Montana congregation sought advice from legal counsel to know whether they had a legal duty to report. The attorney advised them, correctly, that they had no such duty.

This brief demonstrates that, contrary to the judgment below, Defendants did not violate the reporting statute. And even if they did, there is no evidence they acted with the "actual malice" necessary to justify punitive damages, and especially not the unlawful and shockingly excessive award of \$31 million in punitive damages.

The facts are simple. In 2004, siblings Peter McGowan, age 17, and Holly McGowan, age 20, confided to elders in the Thompson Falls Congregation of Jehovah's Witnesses that *years earlier* their stepfather, Maximo Reyes, had sexually abused them. Desiring to obey the law, the elders called legal counsel at Watchtower for advice on reporting obligations. With no "imminent" threat of abuse, and with the communications to the elders having been "confidential," legal counsel correctly advised that under Montana's reporting statute they had no duty to report.

Not until a decade later did anyone know that Maximo was also sexually abusing Peter and Holly's niece, Alexis. In 2016, Alexis sued the Thompson Falls Congregation, Christian Congregation of Jehovah's Witnesses ("CCJW")

(a New York nonprofit corporation that assists Jehovah's Witnesses), and Watchtower (the faith's New York entity that retains the attorney who gave legal advice to congregation elders).

District Court proceedings were marred by a series of critical legal errors. Alexis did not move for summary judgment on her negligence per se claim for Defendants' alleged violation of the reporting statute. The District Court erroneously granted it anyway, despite her admission that there were "genuine fact issue[s]." Dist. Ct. R. ("CR") 77 at 14.

The court erroneously held that the attorney *in New York* violated Montana's reporting statute and that Watchtower was vicariously liable. The court erroneously held that elders at CCJW *in New York* violated Montana's reporting statute and that CCJW was vicariously liable. The court erroneously ignored this Court's black-letter law by holding that Alexis did not have to prove that failing to report was the proximate cause of her injuries. And the court erroneously upheld the jury's staggering award of \$31 million in punitive damages—one of the largest in Montana history—despite zero evidence of "actual malice" and notwithstanding Montana's statutory cap on punitive damages (brushed aside as unconstitutional).

This Court should reverse the judgment below because of these and other fatal errors.

The elders of Jehovah's Witnesses obey child abuse reporting laws. As shown below, Montana's reporting statute did not require a report in this case. Whatever protection common-law duties might have provided, contrary to the judgment below the reporting statute cannot be the basis of liability. And even assuming the attorney who advised congregation elders misinterpreted the reporting statute, a good-faith misinterpretation of a statute is not "actual malice" and does not justify \$31 million in punitive damages.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

These facts are from the record that existed when the District Court granted summary judgment. As necessary, facts from trial are set forth in the punitive-damages section.

Ivy McGowan-Castleberry, Holly, and Peter are siblings. CR 68, Ex. B: 16:10-23. Their mother is Joni Reyes and their stepfather is Maximo Reyes. CR 85, Ex. 1: 134:19-20. Appellee Alexis Nunez is Ivy's daughter. CR 4.

A. Maximo Abuses Holly, Peter, and Alexis

In 1998, Ivy learned that her stepfather Maximo had sexually abused her sister Holly. CR 88, Ex. 1: 94:18-22. Ivy spoke with her mother, Joni, about

Holly's abuse; thus, Alexis's mother and grandmother both knew by 1998 that Maximo had abused Holly. CR 88, Ex. 1: 96:2-7.

Around 2002, despite knowing that Maximo had abused Holly, Ivy had Joni babysit Alexis and her siblings. CR 88, Ex. 1: 95:2-96:1. Ivy "was really hoping" that Maximo's abusing Holly "had been a one-time incident." CR 88, Ex. 1: 96:10-22. Joni did not believe Maximo had abused Holly. CR 88, Ex. 2: 53:10-23. Both women were wrong, and sadly Maximo abused Alexis almost weekly while Joni babysat. CR 77, Ex. AA: 72:1-73:12, 74:16-24. In 2003, Ivy moved, the babysitting stopped, and the abuse became less frequent. CR 77, Ex. AA: 74:25-76:17.

In 2003, Holly, now an adult living in Nebraska, told Joni that Maximo had abused her in the 1990s. CR 88, Ex. 2: 89:18-25. In 2004, 17-year-old Peter also told Joni that Maximo had abused him years earlier. CR 88, Ex. 2: 49:7-18; 89:11-17. Joni confronted Maximo, who admitted touching Peter but denied any "sexual motivation." CR 88, Ex. 2: 51:7-15; 90:11-20. Maximo decided to leave the home "so Peter can stay." CR 88, Ex. 2: 91:12-92:13. But Peter also left the home. CR 88, Ex. 2: 92:10-13.

B. Thompson Falls Congregation of Jehovah's Witnesses

Joni, Maximo, Peter, and Holly (before she moved) were members of the

Thompson Falls Congregation of Jehovah's Witnesses. Ivy's daughter Alexis sometimes attended congregation meetings with her grandmother Joni. CR 77, Ex. AA: 66:2-22. Alexis had no other connection with the congregation. The congregation had no involvement in Joni babysitting Alexis. CR 85, Ex. 2: 52:17-53:9.

Congregations of Jehovah's Witnesses receive spiritual oversight and pastoral care from a group of local elders who are "clergy" under Montana law. CR 77, Ex. B ¶¶7-9; Ex. C ¶7. Elders give spiritual counsel, hear confessions, and provide spiritual discipline for serious sins, sometimes resulting in a member being disfellowshipped (expelled). CR 77, Ex. B ¶¶7-14; Ex. A ¶¶6-9; Ex. C ¶8. Under established Jehovah's Witnesses doctrine and practice, elders must maintain the confidentiality of all spiritual communications with members and other elders. CR 77, Ex. A ¶ 9; Ex. B ¶8; Ex. C ¶8; Ex. D ¶10; Ex. E ¶21.

C. Confidential Spiritual Communications and Discipline

In 2004, Peter confided in Don Herberger, a Thompson Falls

Congregation elder, that Maximo had abused him years earlier. CR 51 at 3;

CR 63, Ex. 1: 14:6-15:3. Peter entrusted this information to Herberger so the elders could take spiritual action against Maximo. CR 63, Ex. 1: 45:21-46:10.

Peter believed his conversation with Herberger was confidential. CR 63, Ex. 1:

39:1-11, 46:3-8. Undisputed testimony established that "[i]t is a religious belief and practice of Jehovah's Witnesses ... that elders must maintain in strict confidence any church communications connected with spiritual counsel and advice" and that "[c]ongregation members expect that their communications with elders will remain confidential." CR 77, Ex. E ¶21-22.

Established Jehovah's Witnesses doctrine and practice require either a confession or two witnesses before spiritually disciplining an accused member. CR 77, Ex. FF: 38:2-7. Herberger contacted Peter's sister, Holly. CR 63, Ex. 2: 193:19-194:9. Holly wrote a confidential letter to the elders saying Maximo had also abused her years earlier. CR 51, Ex. A; CR 63, Ex. 8: 99:17-101:7. Herberger believed Holly confided in him "because of the position I have in the congregation as a spiritual shepherd." CR 63, Ex. 2: 196:17-19.

When one of Jehovah's Witnesses commits a gross sin, established Jehovah's Witnesses doctrine and practice require a "judicial committee" of elders to spiritually discipline the sinner. CR 77, Ex. B ¶10; Ex. C ¶10, Ex. D ¶20. Jehovah's Witnesses believe confession of sin is essential to salvation and that confidentiality promotes confession. CR 51, Ex. E ¶20. As

¹ Notwithstanding this belief, elders report suspected child abuse to authorities when required by law. Trial Tr. Vol. I: 200:14-15.

required by their ecclesiastical practices, the elders confidentially confronted Maximo. CR 51, Ex. C: 133:3-9. Maximo denied most of the allegations, but the elders believed the victims and disfellowshipped him (expelled him from membership). CR 63, Ex. 2: 148:21-25; Ex. 1: 30:14-25.

This process of ecclesiastical discipline is confidential. Under established Jehovah's Witnesses doctrine and practice, "all spiritual communications taking place during an investigation or judicial committee, are considered extremely private and strictly confidential by all present, including the accused congregant and elders." CR 77, Ex. B ¶10.

D. Local Elders Obtain Confidential Spiritual Advice from CCJW and Confidential Legal Advice from Watchtower

Congregation elders throughout the United States receive spiritual guidance from elders at CCJW in New York. CR 77, Ex. C ¶7; Ex. G ¶7; Ex. H ¶4. CCJW, a New York non-profit corporation headquartered in New York, supports the religion of Jehovah's Witnesses. CR 77, Ex. G ¶¶5-7. Congregation elders confidentially communicate with elders at CCJW to receive spiritual counsel and guidance. CR 77, Ex. T ¶33. Under established Jehovah's Witnesses doctrine and practice, "[a]ll such spiritual communications must be kept private and strictly confidential." CR 77, Ex. T ¶33.

When a congregant is disfellowshipped, congregation elders send a confidential "notice of disfellowshipping" to elders in the Service Department at CCJW who review it to ensure the decision was supported by Scripture and to provide additional spiritual counsel. CR 77, Ex. B ¶11; Ex. P ¶14-15.

Under established doctrine and practice, "[a]ll such spiritual communications between congregation elders and elders in the Service Department must be kept strictly confidential." CR 77, Ex. B ¶9; Ex. C ¶9-11. "[T]he religious beliefs of these elders [in the Service Department] require that any confidential communications that they may have with congregation elders must be kept strictly confidential." CR 77, Ex. D ¶13. The confidential notice from the Thompson Falls' elders stated that Maximo was disfellowshipped for sexually abusing his stepchildren. CR 51, Ex. B.

Watchtower, a New York nonprofit corporation that supports Jehovah's Witnesses, maintains a legal department. CR 77, Ex. Z: 39:7-40:8. While congregation elders turn to CCJW's Service Department elders for confidential *spiritual* guidance, they call Watchtower's Legal Department for confidential *legal* advice. CR 51, Ex. C: 52:10-15. CCJW is not owned or operated by, and does not own or operate, Watchtower. CR 77, Ex. I ¶4. At all relevant times

CCJW (not Watchtower) communicated religious policies and procedures to local elders. CR 77, Ex. I ¶7; Ex. Q ¶¶5-9.

Under church policy, congregation elders call the Legal Department "immediately" whenever they "receive reports of physical or sexual abuse of a child." CR 25, Ex. A. Thompson Falls' elders called the Legal Department and were advised by an attorney that Montana law did not require a report. CR 63, Ex. 2: 148:10-12; CR 51, Ex. D: 18:2-14.

E. No Evidence of Notice of Risk to Alexis

When, in 2004, Peter and Holly told congregation elders that Maximo had abused them years earlier, neither gave the elders any reason to believe they or their niece, Alexis, was at risk. Holly was an adult living in Nebraska and Peter had moved out. CR 88, Ex. 2: 92:10-13. Joni was no longer babysitting Alexis. Alexis's mother Ivy testified that between 2003 and 2007, Alexis was rarely around Maximo. "[I]t was definitely extremely diminished time that they were with my mom and even less that they were around Max." CR 63, Ex. 4: 99:8-100:24. Alexis did not tell anyone Maximo had abused her until 2012. CR 68, Ex. D: 79:24-80:3. Peter was not aware Alexis had been abused until this lawsuit. CR 63, Ex. 1: 7:9-15. Holly "had no idea at that time about

Alexis." CR 63, Ex. 3: 126:16-17. Ivy did not discover that Maximo had abused Alexis until Alexis was 19. CR 63, Ex. 4: 93:24-94:13.

F. Course of Proceedings

Alexis and Holly filed suit against Watchtower, CCJW, and the Thompson Falls Congregation alleging claims for negligence, negligence per se, breach of fiduciary duty, and vicarious liability. CR 4. In an order denying a motion filed by Defendants, the District Court *sua sponte* granted summary judgment to Alexis on her claim for negligence per se, holding that each Defendant violated Montana's mandatory sexual abuse reporting statute. App. 1 (CR 107). Before trial, Plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed all other claims. Trial Tr. Vol. 1: 141:23-142:9.

After a three-day trial, the jury found against Holly and awarded her nothing. App. 2 (CR 128). Having been instructed that Defendants were liable to Alexis, the jury awarded her \$4 million in compensatory damages and apportioned fault: 80% Watchtower, 15% CCJW, 4% Thompson Falls Congregation, and 1% Ivy (Alexis's mother). App. 2 (CR 128). The jury found that CCJW and Watchtower acted with "malice" and awarded \$30 million in punitive damages against Watchtower and \$1 million against CCJW. App. 3 (CR 129).

Defendants moved to reduce the punitive damages based on Montana's statutory cap, MCA § 27-1-220(3). CR 130. The District Court found § 27-1-220(3) unconstitutional and entered judgment for the full amount. App. 4, 5 (CR 137, 138).

IV. STANDARDS OF REVIEW

- 1. The District Court's grant of summary judgment to Alexis on negligence per se is reviewed de novo. *Stipe v. First Interstate Bank-Polson*, 2008 MT 239, ¶1, 344 Mont. 435, 188 P.3d 1063.
- 2. The jury's determination that there was clear and convincing evidence that Watchtower and CCJW acted with malice is reviewed to determine if there is "substantial credible evidence" to support it. *Magart v. Schank*, 2000 MT 279, ¶4, 302 Mont. 151, 13 P.3d 390.
- 3. This Court conducts a "plenary" review of the District Court's declaration that MCA § 27-1-220 violates the Montana constitution. *In re A.S.*, 2004 MT 62, ¶9, 320 Mont. 268, 87 P.3d 408.
- 4. This Court conducts a "plenary" review of the constitutionality of the punitive damages award under the United States Constitution. *Id*.

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A. The District Court erred in granting summary judgment to Alexis on negligence per se.

The District Court committed four reversible errors in holding that as a matter of law Defendants violated the reporting statute:

First, the reporting statute applies only to certain "professionals and officials," not institutions or organizations. MCA § 41-3-201. Thus, Defendants could not violate the statute and cannot be liable for negligence per se. And because reporting is done to avoid criminal liability and serve the State's purposes, not to benefit a principal or employer, Defendants cannot be vicariously liable.

Second, clergy are not required to report abuse they learn about through a "communication" that is "confidential" under "church doctrine, or established church practice." MCA § 41-3-201(6)(c). Undisputed evidence established that Jehovah's Witnesses doctrine and practice required the elders to maintain the confidentiality of the communications at issue. The District Court's ruling contradicts the reporting statute and infringes on the First Amendment right of Jehovah's Witnesses to handle confessions of sin and ecclesiastical discipline in confidence.

Third, a report is mandatory only when the enumerated reporters have "reasonable cause to suspect" a "present imminent risk of" abuse. *Gross v. Myers*, 229 Mont. 509, 513, 748 P.2d 459, 461 (1987). Alexis conceded that there were "genuine fact issue[s] as to whether ... Defendants had a reasonable cause to suspect that there was a present imminent risk of harm to a child."

CR 77 at 14. The District Court granted summary judgment anyway.

Fourth, the elders with CCJW and the Watchtower attorney who learned about the abuse all live in New York. Their duty to report is governed by New York law, not Montana law. A state "has no authority to mandate reports by adults or agencies in other states." *People v. Lewis*, 183 Cal. Rptr. 3d 701, 706 (Ct. App. 2015). Clergy are not mandatory reporters under New York law.

For two additional reasons, the District Court erred in granting summary judgment to Alexis on negligence per se:

First, Alexis had to prove that "the [reporting statute] was enacted to protect a specific class of persons; [and] that [she] is a member of the class." *Stipe*, ¶14. The "class of persons" protected by reporting statutes is the child or children about whom a report is or should have been made. The District Court

erroneously held that Defendants were liable to *Alexis* under the reporting statute for failing to report the abuse of *Peter and Holly*.

Second, the District Court erroneously held that proximate cause is established as a matter of law once negligence per se is proved. CR 105. "A negligence per se theory, however, does not relieve a plaintiff from proving causation." *Stipe*, ¶14. Proximate cause should have been decided by the jury.

For these reasons, the District Court erred in granting summary judgment to Alexis on negligence per se.

B. The jury lacked sufficient evidence to award punitive damages against Watchtower and CCJW.

Before punitive damages can be awarded for negligence per se, a plaintiff must prove by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant acted with "actual malice," meaning he intentionally or recklessly violated the statute.

Stipe, ¶¶22-23. The District Court erroneously held that the Watchtower attorney and the CCJW elders in New York had a duty to report under Montana law and that Watchtower and CCJW were vicariously liable for their failure to report. But even if correct, Alexis submitted no evidence that the attorney or the elders acted with malice. Watchtower and CCJW reasonably believed they had no duty to report under Montana law.

C. The District Court erred in ruling that the statutory cap on punitive damages violates the Montana Constitution.

A cap on punitive damages need only be rationally related to a legitimate legislative interest to pass muster under the Montana Constitution. Recognizing that such interests exist, this Court has held "the legislature may, at its will, restrict or deny the allowance of such damages." *Meech v. Hillhaven W.*, 238 Mont. 21, 47, 776 P.2d 488, 504 (1989) (citation omitted).

D. The punitive-damage award against Watchtower violates the U.S. Constitution.

Three "guideposts" determine whether a punitive-damages award is grossly excessive: (1) the reprehensibility of the conduct at issue, (2) the ratio between punitive and compensatory damages, and (3) the difference between the punitive damages and available civil penalties. Watchtower's failure to report was not reprehensible—New York attorneys providing legal advice to Montana clergy have no duty to report. The 9:1 ratio of punitive to compensatory damages here exceeds constitutional boundaries, especially because substantial compensatory damages were already awarded. *See infra* p. 53. Finally, failure to report is a misdemeanor punishable by a \$500 fine. A \$30,000,000 fine is more fitting for a serious felony. These guideposts confirm

that the \$30,000,000 award of punitive damages against Watchtower was "grossly excessive."

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court erred in granting summary judgment on negligence per se.

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