07/22/2019

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 19-0077

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 19-0077

ALEXIS NUNEZ and HOLLY McGOWAN

Plaintiffs/Appellees,

V.

WATCHTOWER BIBLE AND TRACT SOCIETY OF NEW YORK, INC., CHRISTIAN CONGREGATION OF JEHOVAH'S WITNESSES, and THOMPSON FALLS CONGREGATION OF JEHOVAH'S WITNESSES,

Defendants/Appellants,

WATCHTOWER BIBLE AND TRACT SOCIETY OF NEW YORK, INC., CHRISTIAN CONGREGATION OF JEHOVAH'S WITNESSES, and THOMPSON FALLS CONGREGATION OF JEHOVAH'S WITNESSES,

Third-Party Plaintiffs/Appellants,

V.

MAXIMO REYES and IVY MCGOWAN-CASTLEBERRY,

Third-Party Defendants.

APPELLEES' RESPONSE BRIEF

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendants failed to preserve error except on issues relating to punitive damages. Defendants did not object on the record to a jury instruction that determined, as a matter of law, that Defendants violated the Reporting Law and were liable for harm caused by the abuser to Lexi after 2004. Defendants also failed to object to any jury instructions given at the close of the evidence and did not object to any instructions they had offered but were not given. Most importantly, rather than objecting, Defendants *stipulated* to a verdict form that, for Lexi, determined that Defendants were negligent. Finally, although they made a motion for judgment

as a matter of law at the close of Plaintiffs' case, they did not renew that motion post-verdict, as required by Rule 50(b).

If this Court were to reach the merits of Defendants' arguments, they fail legally and factually for several reasons. First, Defendants brief is based on "imminent risk of harm" language that was removed from the Reporting Law before the events at issue in this case. Indeed, Defendants' brief makes clear that their inhouse clergy lawyers made the same mistake when they incorrectly instructed elders not to report a known and admitted child abuser to the authorities.

Second, Defendants on appeal rely on an advice-of-counsel defense. Because Defendants did not plead the advice-of-counsel affirmative defense as required under Montana law, the defense fails procedurally. Of the two witnesses that attempted to raise this defense at trial, neither elder participated in the discussion with the lawyer. Additionally, Defendants did not bring the lawyer to trial to testify about why the elders were instructed not to report. As a result, the defense fails factually as well.

Third, the District Court correctly determined that Defendants violated the Reporting Law as it existed in 2004. Plaintiffs moved for partial summary judgment on Defendants' "confidentiality" affirmative defense, and Defendants cross-moved for partial summary judgment on Plaintiffs' negligence per se claim. The parties jointly submitted a Final Pretrial Order, which identified these matters as "Issues of

Law" to be decided in advance of trial. With the benefit of the Final Pretrial Order and based on undisputed facts (including facts stipulated to by Defendants), the District Court acted within its authority to decide the issues as a matter of law. In doing so, the court correctly determined that the confidentiality exception failed as a matter of law and there were not disputed liability issues.

In doing so, the District Court correctly determined that the adoption of Montana's Reporting Law did not abrogate the common law doctrine of vicarious liability. The elders, both locally and at headquarters, acted at all times according to Jehovah's Witnesses' policies and practices, and did so in furtherance of the interests of the church.

Fourth, with respect to punitive damages, there was clear and convincing evidence to support the jury's conclusion that Defendants acted with malice because Defendants acted primarily out of a concern for the interests of the Jehovah's Witnesses church, and did so at the expense of victims of child abuse. By refusing to report a known and admitted child molester, Defendants allowed Reyes to continue sexually abusing Lexi, even though Defendants knew Lexi stayed at Reyes' home and attended church with him. Defendants' local elder testified at trial that if the same situation occurred today as then, they would have responded in exactly the same way—by refusing to report a known child abuser—just as they were instructed.

Fifth, the \$30 million punitive damage award against Watchtower is reasonable and complies with all requirements under the United States and Montana constitutions. The \$10 million limit on this award under Montana law is unconstitutional on three grounds. The limitation violates the equal protection guarantee, the due process clause, and the right to trial by jury of the Montana Constitution.

ARGUMENT

I. DEFENDANTS FAILED TO PRESERVE ALL ISSUES EXCEPT THOSE RELATING TO PUNITIVE DAMAGES.

Defendants did not object to any of the jury instructions given by the court, nor did Defendants object to the court's failure to include any of their proposed instructions. In a conference with counsel after jury selection and before preliminary instructions, the Judge stated that Plaintiffs' proposed instruction No. 18 would be given to the jury. Vol. I, p. 140. Defendants did not object, and the instruction was given as Instruction No. 4. Vol. I, p. 147 (App. C, p. 45). Defendants did not object after the instruction was given to the jury, or at any other time during or after the trial.

During the conference with counsel for settling jury instructions, the Judge expressly stated "...if you want to make a record of objections, just speak up. If I'm hearing none, I'll assume there is none." Vol. III, p. 23. Defense counsel did not object to any of the instructions given to the jury. *See* Vol. III, pp. 18-40.

In addition, Defendants stipulated to the verdict forms which, for Lexi, included "Yes" typed on the form for each of the three religious Defendants in response to Question No. 1 ("Did the negligence, if any, of those named below cause injury to Alexis Nunez?"). Vol. III, pp. 35-36, 38; CR 128 (App. B, p. 35).

It is well-established that there is a "rule of appellate procedure that in order to preserve an issue for appeal, the appellant must have raised the issue 'at trial." *State v. Reichmand*, 2010 MT 228, ¶12, 358 Mont. 68, 243 P.3d 423. This is because it "would be 'fundamentally unfair to fault the trial court for failing to rule correctly on an issue' that [an appellant] never gave it an opportunity to actually rule on." *Comm'r of Political Practices v. Wittich*, 2017 MT 210, ¶74, 388 Mont. 347, 400 P.3d 735 (citation omitted). With respect to jury instructions, this rule is expressly incorporated in Mont. R. Civ. P. 51. As this Court explained in *Siebken v. Voderberg*, 2015 MT 296, ¶30, 381 Mont. 256, 359 P.3d 1073:

Rule 51 provides that a party may only assign as error "an error in an instruction actually given, if that party properly objected" to the instruction. M. R. Civ. P. 51(d)(1)(A). The same rule provides, "A party who objects to an instruction...must do so on the record, stating distinctly the matter objected to and the grounds for the objection." M. R. Civ. P. 51(c)(1). This Court consistently has concluded that a party is barred from challenging an instruction on appeal for reasons not raised before the trial court.

(Emphasis added). *See also, e.g., Seltzer v. Morton,* 2007 MT 62, ¶ 54, 336 Mont. 225, 154 P.3d 561 ("[F]ailure to object to a jury instruction at trial constitutes waiver of the opportunity to raise the objection on appeal.").

Before trial, Defendants submitted a proposed verdict form. CR 110. However, after the close of evidence, Defendants stipulated on the record to an agreed verdict form. Defendants now argue the District Court erred by granting summary judgment on liability in favor of Lexi. By stipulating to a verdict form that included negligence findings against them, Defendants have clearly waived their right to challenge the pre-trial rulings on negligence per se and their sixth affirmative defense. Mont. R. Civ. P. 49; 9 Moore's Fed. Practice – Civil § 49.20(5). Similarly, by failing to object to any of the jury instructions given and/or not given at trial, Defendants have waived their right to challenge the jury's verdict on appeal. *Siebken, supra;* Mont. R. Civ. P. 51.

Following the close of Plaintiffs' case, Defendants moved for judgment as a matter of law based exclusively on an argument that Plaintiffs failed to prove causation. Vol. II, pp. 143-145. The District Court denied the motion. *Id.* At the conclusion of the case, Defendants made an offer of proof relating to evidence of other abusers—an issue that Defendants have abandoned on appeal. Vol. III, pp. 40-43.

Defendants now argue there was insufficient evidence to prove their failure to report caused harm to Lexi. App. Br., pp. 37-38. Although Defendants moved for judgment as a matter of law on this issue, they failed to preserve it for appeal. A "trial court's denial of a party's preverdict Rule 50(a) motion cannot form the basis

of an appeal." *Blue Ridge Homes, Inc. v. Thein,* 2008 MT 264, ¶ 345 Mont. 125, 191 P.3d 374. In order to preserve this argument for appeal, Defendants were obligated to renew their motion pursuant to Rule 50(b). By failing to do so, they have waived their argument that the jury's verdict is not supported by the evidence. *Id.* (citing *Unitherm Food Systems, Inc. v. Swift-Eckrich, Inc.*, 546 U.S. 394, 406 (2005)).

In sum, Defendants failed to preserve all issues they have now raised on appeal, except those relating to punitive damages. This Court need not reach the merits of their assignments of error relating to the District Court's pretrial rulings.

II. DEFENDANTS' ARGUMENTS ARE BASED ON STATUTORY LANGUAGE THAT DID NOT EXIST IN 2004.

Defendants' arguments and defenses are erroneously based upon now deleted language from an old version of the Reporting Law that existed in 1987. The key statutory language they rely upon was removed from the statute before 2004 when Defendants were notified that Reyes was a pedophile.

Defendants are represented in this appeal by their own *in-house* legal department. Defendants open their brief by praising their *in-house* legal department for instructing their clergy members not to report child sex abuse by an admitted pedophile within their church. App. Br., 2. Defendants boldly assert that their legal department "correctly advised" the clergymen not to report the documented abuse because there was no "**imminent**" threat of abuse. *Id.* Defendants then criticize the

trial court for failing to apply an "<u>imminent</u> risk of harm" standard, arguing that such failure resulted in the court incorrectly issuing a summary judgment order. App. Br., 29. Defendants' *in-house* legal department was wrong then and they are wrong now. Their lawyers failed to read and apply the correct version of the statute at issue.

Defendants mistakenly rely on language from *Gross v. Myers* (1987), 229 Mont. 509, 748 P.2d 459 that analyzed the 1987 version of the law to argue the statute requires a "present imminent risk of abuse." App. Br., 2. This lawsuit was tried in 2018 and based on events that occurred in 2004. The 1987 version of the law does not apply because the language Defendants rely upon was removed in 1997.

The version of the statute at issue in *Gross* substantially differs from the version in effect in 2004. The 1987 version required a report when there was an "abused or neglected child," which was defined as "harmed or threatened with harm." MCA § 41-3-102(2) (1987) (App. F., p. 97). "Threatened with harm" was defined in the statute as "imminent risk of harm." *Id.* at § 102(6) (App. F., p. 98).

In 1997, the legislature removed the "harmed or threated with harm" language and defined "abused or neglected" to mean "has suffered abuse or neglect." MCA § 41-3-102(2) (1997)(App. E., p. 89)(emphasis added). Also, "reasonable cause to suspect" was defined as "cause that would lead a reasonable person to believe that child abuse may have occurred or is occurring based on all the facts and

circumstances known to the person." *Id.* at § 102(14)(App. E., p. 91)(emphasis added). The same statutory definitions existed in 2004 when the elders were notified that Reyes was a child abuser. MCA §§ 41-3-102(3), (20) (2003)(App. D, pp. 80, 82).

Defendants' assertions that "the reporting statute is triggered by evidence of present abuse, not past abuse" are wrong. App. Br., 29. The 2003 statutes specifically include references to past abuse. Defendants relied on the wrong version of the statute, and as a result, their arguments and criticism of the District Court are fatally flawed.

III. DEFENDANTS' ADVICE-OF-COUNSEL DEFENSE FAILS AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT.

Defendants erroneously claim on appeal that their attorneys correctly advised them not to report the abuse. Stretching the argument even further, Defendants claim the flawed advice excuses their conduct.

An advice-of-counsel defense is waived if it is not asserted as an affirmative defense in a responsive pleading. *Ammondson v. Northwestern Corp.*, 2009 MT 331, ¶ 57, 353 Mont. 28, 220 P.3d 1 ("We therefore hold that advice-of-counsel, when used as an affirmative defense, must be plead in accordance with M.R.Civ.P. 8(c)."). Defendants did not assert the defense in their responsive pleadings. CR. 8. It fails as a matter of law. No further analysis is required.

Should this Court excuse Defendants' failure to plead the defense, it fails on the merits. Defendants did not present any evidence at trial to establish the basis for the attorney's instruction not to report the abuse. Douglas Chapel, Defendants' corporate representative, testified he had no independent knowledge of why legal told the elders not to report. Vol. I, p. 228. Similarly, Herberger testified he was not part of the discussion with the attorney so he had no knowledge of why they were instructed not to report. Vol. I., p. 256. A party relying on an advice-of-counsel defense must waive the attorney-client privilege and present testimony to explain the basis for the advice. *See, e.g., Lamb v. Dist. Ct.,* 2010 MT 141, ¶ 6, 356 Mont. 534, 234 P.3d 893; *Hill v. Burlingame* (1990), 244 Mont. 246, 250, 797 P.2d 925.

Defendants argue they acted in good faith reliance upon the attorney's instruction. It was their burden, however, to present testimony from the attorney at trial to explain the basis for his instruction. As established above, it is clear from Defendants' arguments on appeal that the attorney's instructions were wrong because he relied on an obsolete version of the Reporting Law. Thus, because Defendants presented no evidence at trial to explain the basis for the attorney's instruction, their advice-of-counsel defense also fails factually.

- IV. IN ADDITION TO FAILING TO PRESERVE THEIR ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR FOR APPEAL, DEFENDANTS' ARGUMENTS FAIL ON THE MERITS.
 - A. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT DEFENDANTS VIOLATED MONTANA'S REPORTING LAW.

Defendants' vicarious liability argument is based on the flawed premise that because corporations are not specifically identified as mandatory reporters, they cannot be liable for the acts taken by their agents. The District Court correctly concluded that vicarious liability still exists in Montana and was not abrogated by the mandatory reporter law. See Drinkwalter v. Shipton Supply Co. (1987), 225 Mont. 380, 384, 732 P.2d 1335 ("Absent a clear indication of the legislature's intent to abrogate existing common law remedies, we must construe new statutory remedies as existing in addition to, rather than instead of, the common law remedies."); see also Lee v. Detroit Med. Ctr., 775 N.W.2d 326, 335 (Mich. App. 2009)("[A] well-settled common-law principle, such as the doctrine of vicarious liability, cannot be abolished by implication."). In addition, "[n]othing in the nature of vicarious liability...requires that a judgment be rendered against the negligent agent. Rather, to succeed on a vicarious liability claim, a plaintiff need only prove that an agent has acted negligently." Al-Shimmari v. Detroit Med. Ctr., 731 N.W.2d 29, 36 (Mich. 2007). If a truck driver is negligent per se by driving through a red light and causing an accident, the driver's employer is clearly vicariously liable. The same is true here.

Under Defendants' construction of the Reporting Law, Lexi could only claim damages from the local elders who, pursuant to direct instructions from the Jehovah's Witnesses' headquarters, failed to report Reyes as a pedophile. The

organizations would, as a matter of law, be immune from any liability for the acts of their agents who acted at all times at the direction of, in furtherance of the interests of, and for the benefit of, the organizations.

When clergy "know or have reasonable cause to suspect" that a child is abused, "they shall report the matter promptly to the department of public health and human services." MCA § 41-3-201. "Any person, official, or institution required by law to report known or suspected child abuse or neglect who fails to do so or who prevents another person from reasonably doing so is civilly liable for the damages proximately caused by such failure or prevention." MCA § 41-3-207.

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